IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC08-589

MICAH NELSON Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar No. 0558893 Assistant CCC

JAMES VIGGIANO Florida Bar No. 0715336 Assistant CCC

ALI ANDREW SHAKOOR Florida Bar No. 669830 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 10, 1997, a Polk County grand jury indicted the Appellant, Micah Louis Nelson, for first-degree murder, kidnapping, sexual battery, burglary, and grand theft (auto). On December 19, 1997, he was charged by information filed in Highlands County with brglary and sexual battery.

Nelson was tried by jury, in Polk County, the Honorable J. Michael Hunter, Circuit Judge, presiding. The jury found Nelson guilty as charged on December 14, 1999. On December 22, 1999, following the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended death by a nine to three vote. A Spencer hearing was held February 8, 2000. The judge sentenced Appellant to death on March 17, 2000. His sentencing order was filed the same date. He sentenced Appellant to four

consecutive life sentences for burglaryof a structure, sexual battery, kidnapping and burglary of a conveyance, as well as a consecutive 15-year prison term for grand theft, and four concurrent 60- month terms for violation of probation, to run consecutive to the 15-year term.

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on April 13, 2000. On July 10, 2003 the judgments and sentences were affirmed on direct appeal in Nelson v. State, 850 So.2d 514 (Fla. 2003). On August 7, 2003 a mandate was issued by the Florida Supreme Court. On October 8, 2003, Appellant filed with the United States Supreme Court a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. The Petition was denied by the United States Supreme Court on December 15, 2003.

The Appellant filed on September 16, 2004 his Motion for Post Conviction Relief. A competency hearing was held on September 27, 2006. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 16 and 17, 2007. The circuit court denied the Appellant's Motion for Post Conviction Relief on February 12, 2008. Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2008. This appeal follows.

EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

A. Testimony of Robert John Trogolo

Robert Trogolo represented Micah Nelson at his trial. (PCR Vol. I p.6). His co-counsel was Julia Williamson and although both counsels had responsibilities in

guilt and penalty phase, Mr. Trogolo was primarily responsible for the penalty phase of Mr. Nelson's trial. (PCR Vol. I p. 7). Dr. Dee was the retained expert when Mr. Trogolo was assigned to the case. He further testified that Dr. Dee first saw Mr. Nelson on June 15, 1998. (PCR Vol. I p. 8). Mr. Trogolo further testified that he was aware that Micah Nelson had made an attempt to take his own life by cutting his throat. Subsequent to the suicide attempt by Mr. Nelson, Dr. Dee recommended that Mr. Nelson be treated at the State Hospital because he was not responding to medication given to him at the jail. (PCR Vol. I p. 9). Regarding the pretrial conference on March 11, 1999, the following questions were asked and answered at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. Um, sir, are you aware of a pretrial conference on March 11th, 1999-

MR. KILEY: Counsel that's on FSC ROA Volume one, page 5253.

Q. – where the following statement was made by Mr. Bob Mack?

MR. MACK; Judge, I'm covering this for Mr. Trogolo. There were just a couple of points Mr. Trogolo asked me to advise the Court of. One, was that we have had our client seen by an expert adviser and apparently he found our client to be marginally competent at this time.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MACK: However he did say that he's recommending that a second expert adviser be involved on this follow and Mr. Trogolo intends to follow through on that. Were you aware of that conversation, sir?

A. I'm aware of that conversation because I have read the transcript.

- Q. Do you remember at all telling Mr. Mack to cover a hearing for you?
- A. I'm sure I did.
- Q. Subsequent to March 11th, 1999, and prior to November 30th, 1999, was any formal competency evaluation done on Mr. Nelson?
- A. No.
- Q. Was anything ordered by you, the State, or the Court?
- A. No competency evaluation, no. (PCR Vol. I p. 10-11).

Regarding the psychotropic instruction, Mr. Trogolo testified that if the Court did not give it, grounds for appeal may exist and he did not make the motion frivolously. (PCR Vol. I p. 11). His concern was that Mr. Nelson needed to stay on the medication for courtroom behavior and to "help him maybe understand a little more of what was going on". (PCR Vol. I p. 12). He also testified that Mr. Nelson was acutely depressed and also that this depression was the reason for the suicide attempt, a suicide attempt that was serious and not made for attention. (PCR Vol. I p. 13). Mr. Trogolo was aware that Micah Nelson was depressed beginning at the age of 11 and Mr. Trogolo agreed that the testimony of Dr. Dee indicated that Mr. Nelson was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. Trogolo was aware that Nelson was untreated before he was arrested. (PCR Vol. I p. 13-14). Regarding further diagnosis of Mr. Nelsons's mental state the following questions were asked and answered at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. How about brain damage?

- MR. KILEY: Counsel, this is on FSC ROA volume 25, page 3143.
- Q. Doctor Dee testified that Mr. Nelson suffered brain damage?
- A. I believe Doctor Dee testified to that.
- Q. And do you recall that?
- MR. KILEY: Volume 25, page 3146 to 3147.
- Q. Doctor Dee opined that Mr. Nelson had issues of depression, or schizophrenia and low IQ?
- A. I believe he did testify to that.
- Q. Do you recall Doctor Dee testifying that a person with these problems would not be particularly competent in any given occupational skills or tasks, had limited academic abilities, and that as a result of cerebral dysfunction would do things without sufficient thought or deliberation?
- A. I believe he testified to that.
- Q. Sir, would you as a trained capital attorney consider that as evidence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance?
- A. I would. (PCR Vol. I p. 14-15).

On cross-examination of Mr. Trogolo, the State questioned Mr. Trogolo on the procedure usually followed by him regarding competency. (PCR Vol. I p. 31-34). Mr. Trogolo further testified that Howardene Garret had previously worked on the case and had retained Dr. Dee Trogolo kept Dr. Dee on the case. (PCR Vol. I 34-35). Mr. Trogolo testified that Dr. Dee had already been retained when Howardene Garret was the previous attorney handling Mr. Nelson's case. (PCR Vol. I p. 34). He also testified that Dr. Dee, prior to Trogolo being assigned to the case, had been provided with school records and DCF records.(PCR Vol. I p. 37-38).

Mr. Trogolo testified he learned that the jail psychologist had been administering medication to Mr. Nelson "fairly close to trial". (PCR Vol. I p.39). Mr. Trogolo further testified that he had no conversations with Doctor Mark Ashby prior to him appearing in court and testifying to what medications were prescribed to Mr. Nelson. (PCR Vol. I p. 41). Mr Trogolo testified that he had never called a jail psychiatrist to testify at trial. (PCR Vol. I p. 42). He had. however, considered calling Dr. Kremper regarding his report that was authored back in 1992. (PCR Vol. I p.42-43). Mr.Trogolo testified that he was worried about certain bad conduct of Mr. Nelson coming into the penalty phase through the testimony of Kremper. (PCR Vol. I p. 43). During his representation of Mr. Nelson, Trogolo testified that he "probably met with him weekly or biweekly except if he was doing another trial. (PCR Vol. I p. 44). Mr. Trogolo described Nelson as being very quiet and rarely spoke. (PCR Vol. I p.45). He testified that he never got to the point of filing a motion to have the court appoint a panel, he was aware that the suicide attempt was genuine and that suicide attempt happened before he got on the case. (PCR vol. I p. 46). Mr. Trogolo testified that he was aware that Dr. Dee wanted Mr. Nelson to go to the State Hospital for treatment and in order to do that, Mr. Nelson had to be found incompetent. (PCR Vol. I p. 47). Trogolo was unsure whether Dr. Dee wanted Mr. Nelson to go to the State Hospital for treatment or that he felt that Nelson was incompetent. (PCR Vol. I p. 48). Mr. Trogolo testified that during the year of Mr. Nelson's trial, Trogolo had been through two prior penalty phases with Judge Hunter; Harry Davis Jr. as one, and the third would have been Stephen Norris. (PCR Vol. I p. 53). Mr. Trogolo testified that he believed that being on medication "helped Mr. Nelson understand a little more of what was going on." (PCR Vol. I p. 54). Mr. Trogolo did not call Mr. Nelson to testify at his trial. He did not think that Mr. Nelson could have added to the facts or help challenge the facts. (PCR Vol. I p. 56-7). Mr. Trogolo testified that "he was marginally competent. I thought he could talk to them in a marginal fashion, I don't think he would have made a good impression on the Jury." (PCR Vol. I p. 58).

Mr. Trogolo admitted that he did not introduce the records of treatment which Micah Nelson received by Dr. Kremper at the Spencer hearing. (PCR Vol. I p.63-64). Trogolo testified that he was aware that in the sentencing order, Judge Hunter recommended death on the fact that Nelson had no history of mental problems. Trogolo had the ability to provide Judge Hunter with evidence on Nelson's mental problems and did not do so. (PCR Vol. I p. 64). Mr. Trogolo then testified that three murder cases in a year's time was a lot of cases and that the specially crafted jury instructions were denied by Judge Hunter. (PCR Vol. I p. 65-67). Mr. Trogolo testified that although he did not get the requested instruction

delineating each and every non-statutory mitigator upon denial of his motion, he still did not request the statutory mitigators even though he was entitled to them. (PCR Vol. I p. 70-71).

B. Testimony of Dr. Mark Ashby

Dr. Mark Ashby was qualified as a medical doctor with an expertise in psychiatry. (PCR Vol. I p. 75). Dr. Ashby was the jail psychiatrist for the Polk County Jail . Dr. Ashby treated Micah Nelson from the time of his arrest, November 17th 1997 until his trial in 1999. (PCR Vol. I p. 77). Dr. Ashby testified that he had diagnosed Mr. Nelson with schizo affective disorder. He would have diagnosed him when Ashby initially evaluated him in the jail. Dr. Ashby testified that depending on the severity of the symptoms and the history they present with, he generally tries to get them seen within a period of less than a week. (PCR Vol. I p. 79). Dr. Ashby then explained that schizo affective disorder is a combination of schizophrenia and depression superimposed on each other. Primarily it is a psychotic disorder involving impairment in processing thoughts. **Typically** delusions and hallucinations, such as auditory hallucinations such as hearing voices. There would be a significant depression component to it also, feelings of sadness, lack of energy, and lack of interest in things. But most importantly it would be a thought disorder which is characterized by unusual associations, idiosyncratic

associations. Dr. Ashby also described psychosis as a break with reality. Dr. Ashby also testified that the initial prescription for Mellaril twice a day was an antipsychotic medication which blocks the chemical of dopamine in the brain which is believed that an excess of that chemical causes the hallucinations. The purpose of the prescription of Mellaril would be to stop the hallucinations which Mr. Nelson was suffering from. (PCR Vol. I p. 80-1).

The following questions were asked and answered regarding Micah Nelson's symptoms:

- Q. I had you also prescribe a drug called, Imipramine, I-M-I-P-R-A-M-I-N-E?
- A. Yes and that's an antidepressant.
- Q. Doctor, as part of your diagnosis of schizo affective disorder did you find that Mr. Nelson suffers from auditory hallucinations?
- A. Yes, that was one of the symptoms that led me to form that diagnosis.
- Q. What were some of the other symptoms that led me to form that diagnosis.
- A. The thought disorder. A blunted affect, not showing an emotional response to things would be a way to summarize that particular symptom. His processing of information, like we made allusion to the idiosyncratic references, overall his processing of information seem to be deficient. (PCR Vol. I p.82-83)

When asked if Mr. Nelson appeared to exhibit any symptoms of schizo affective disorder, Dr. Ashby replied that it was hard to say, that Micah looked a bit withdrawn, but Dr. Ashby would have to examine him in more detail to tell what is

going on with him. Dr Ashby also testified that it is possible to have the condition and also be lucid at times. (PCR Vol. I p. 83). Dr. Ashby further testified that if Mr. Nelson was not treated for his condition it is probable it would reoccur as schizo affective disorder is generally considered to be a progressive deteriorating illness. (PCR Vol. I p. 84-5). Dr. Ashby opined that a person suffering from schizo affective disorder would be under extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (PCR Vol. I p. 86).

C. Testimony of Dr. Henry Dee

Dr. Dee is a clinical neuro psychologist who was qualified by the court and evaluated Micah Nelson. (PCR Vol. I p.100). He was directed by trial counsel for a neuro psychological evaluation and competence to proceed and if possible mental state at the time of the offense. (PCR Vol. I p. 101). Dr. Dee first met with Mr. Nelson on June 15, 1998. The duration of the initial interview lasted about 30 minutes when Dr. Dee discovered that Micah Nelson was mute or appeared to be mute as Nelson was frequently unresponsive to questions. As a consequence of that he sent Nelson back to the jail. Dr. Dee thought that at the time Mr. Nelson was frightened, because he was mute and was unresponsive to many of the questions. However, it turned out the muteness was, as it often is, a symptom of his depression, and that was the very day Mr. Nelson attempted suicide when he got back to the jail.

(PCR Vol. I p. 101-102). Dr. Dee next saw Mr. Nelson on July 7, 1998, at which time he was able to carry on a more adequate interview and did administer tests, both psychological and neurepsychological tests. He also did some interviewing. Dr. Dee then saw Nelson on the 23rd of July 1998, the 24th and again on September 14th and for continued interviewing on 11/24/99. Dr. Dee him in September of 1998. There was also a visit on the 28th of July, 1998, October 13 of 1998, and February 1st of 1999. For the sake of completeness, Dee was to see him again in 2004 and 2006. In 2004 he did an evaluation and in 2006 he simply did an interview. (PCR Vol. I p. 102-03). Dr. Dee was aware of the many psychotropic and anti-depressant medications prescribed by the jail psychiatrist at Polk County Jail. (PCR Vol. I p. 103). Regarding Micah Nelson's history, Dr. Dee testified that:

Well, he had a long history of psychiatric treatment, also was in some special educational programs. None of the psychiatric treatment lasted long. There was some visits to Marge Brewster Center. I think two. And he was also seen as a juvenile when he was involved in a sexual battery case. Um, and I think he was interviewed at Lancaster Correctional, certainly on his admission he would have been, but he was interviewed a couple of times in there. A lengthy history, but as I recall he wasn't administered no significant psychiatric medications during that stay. He was out of there, he had been about three months before the incident offense occurred, and that was when I saw him of course. (PCR Vol. I p. 103-104).

Dr. Dee further testified that based on the testing and history, he believed that Micah Nelson showed certain features that looked to him that Micah had sustained brain damage and that the medication that Nelson was taking was consistent with schizo affective disorder. (PCR Vol. I p. 104). Dr. Dee further testified that sometimes Nelson was "almost vegetatively depressed, that he was not responsive at all." Dr. Dee also noted psychotic disorder characterized by hallucinations. (PCR Vol. I p. 105). Based on his evaluation and meeting with Micah Nelson, Dr. Dee recommended to the Public Defender's Office that Mr. Nelson be sent to the State (PCR Vol. I p. 106). His recommendation was made because of Hospital. Nelson's condition and that he wasn't responding adequately to the medications he was being given. Mr. Nelson continued to show evidence of psychosis and hallucinations and Mr. Nelson had already demonstrated he was suicidal. Dr. Dee had never appeared in court to address competency issues regarding Mr. Nelson, but Dr. Dee was concerned and suggested that he be sent to the State Hospital more than once. Sometimes he was better than others, when he was at his worst he was unresponsive and mute and at other times seemed to be responding to or having internal stimuli. At times when he seemed open and easy to talk, those were times where Dr. Dee would deem him to be somewhat competent, and at other times when he was reticent and mute it appeared to Dee that he was incompetent to stand trial.

Dr. Dee had expressed his concerns regarding Nelson's competence to his attorneys. He expressed his concerns to the attorneys several times. (PCR Vol. I p. 106-108). When Dr. Dee first became associated with the case, Mr. Trogolo was not Defense Counsel, Howardene Garret was. (PCR Vol. I p. 109). Dr. Dee further testified that he did have an actual face to face meeting with the attorney, while there he discussed the issues of competency, the insanity defense, and what he felt could be testified to in terms of mitigation. However, regarding opinions, Dr. Dee considered this case a rather difficult case because Mr. Nelson "waxed and waned". At some times he seemed quite competent and at other times incompetent. Dee further testified that he communicated this to the defense team. (PCR Vol. I p. 112).

Dr. Dee attempted to communicate or contact Doctor Ashby because Mr. Nelson seemed to wax and wane so much. Although it is not unusual for patients with psychotic disorders to be variable in presentation, Dr. Dee opined that Mr. Nelson was exhibiting an unusual amount of variation, and he wanted Dr. Ashby to know about it. Dee remembered thinking that perhaps the medications needed to be increased at times; that might obviate some of the waxing and waning. (PCR Vol. I p. 116). Regarding Dr. Dee's recommendation that Mr. Nelson be sent to the State Hospital, the following questions were asked and answered at the evidentiary

hearing:

- Q. Doctor, what would be the purpose of sending Mr. Nelson to the State Hospital?
- A. Well, he had already demonstrated he was dangerous to himself. He slashed his throat with a razor blade. That would normally be sufficient to get a person admitted to he hospital under the Baker Act because he was dangerous to himself and others. Secondly, so that he might receive more types of treatment, longer observations, and more careful observations of the medication because it is more closely observed in the psychiatric hospital. That would be standard with somebody clearly dangerous to themselves.
- Q. Now, you did meet with Mr. Nelson after the trial, is that correct?
- A. Yes, in May of 2004.
- Q. Do you- you characterize Mr. Nelson as waxing and waning?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you did characterize him throughout the preparation for trial. Does your opinion at all change than it did back before trial, as to whether he waxes and wanes?
- A. No, I'm sure that he does.
- Q. Your opinion today based upon your meeting with him after the trial and before this Hearing, you again would say he is marginally competent.
- A. As of the last time I saw him, no. The last time I saw he feels psychotic again, angry about what I don't know. Um, and I felt that the last time I saw him in 2006 he was at that point clearly incompetent to proceed.
- Q. Clearly incompetent?
- A. Yes. (PCR Vol. I p. 125-6)
- D. Testimony of Julia Williamson.

Julia Williamson represented Micah Nelson in his homicide trial in 1999.

(PCR Vol. I p. 129). Ms. Williamson testified that although she was the guilt phase attorney in this case, she also helped prepare the penalty phase. (PCR Vol. I p. 130). She testified that she did not deal with Micah Nelson the whole time he was incarcerated; rather she dealt with him just six months before the trial began. (PCR Vol. I p. 131). Regarding the environment of the Public Defender's Office at the time of Mr. Nelson's trial, the following questions were asked and answered at the evidentiary hearing:

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