#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICAH NELSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-589 L.T. No. CF97-06806A-XX DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant failed to establish that trial counsel ineffective for failing to move for a competency determination prior to trial. Trial counsel's mental health expert had examined Appellant for competency and found him competent to proceed, and based on his own extensive dealings with Appellant, trial counsel also felt that he was competent to proceed. Appellant's subclaim that the trial court should have sua sponte ordered a competency hearing is procedurally barred as it should have been raised on direct appeal. Even if not procedurally barred, the claim is without merit as the trial court had been informed that both trial counsel and his mental health expert did not have reasonable grounds to seek a competency determination.

Appellant's related claim that he was tried while incompetent is also without merit. Trial counsel noted on the direct appeal record on the eve of trial that he did not have any concerns regarding Appellant's competency. At that time, the court heard testimony from jail psychiatrist Dr. Ashby that he was treating Appellant with medication to assist Appellant in maintaining his competency. Furthermore, Appellant's retained mental health expert, Dr. Dee, examined Appellant numerous times prior to trial and found him competent to proceed. In fact, Dr.

Dee met with Appellant one week before the trial and testified that it was one of his best sessions with Appellant; he was very clear and forthcoming with information. Thus, the direct appeal record and the testimony from the postconviction evidentiary hearing clearly establish that Appellant was competent at the time of trial.

Appellant failed to carry his burden of establishing ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's decision not to call jail psychiatrist Dr. Mark Ashby as a witness in the guilt and penalty phases. Trial counsel explained that he did not call the jail psychiatrist because he had retained an experienced forensic neuropsychologist, Dr. Dee, for the specific purpose of evaluating Appellant for competency Trial counsel correctly testified that Dr. and mitigation. Ashby's testimony would not have been admissible in the guilt phase as diminished capacity evidence because caselaw from this Court prohibited such testimony. As to the penalty phase, trial counsel utilized Dr. Dee to testify regarding mental health issues and other nonstatutory mitigation, and specifically informed the jury of Dr. Ashby's treatment of Appellant while incarcerated. Thus, even if counsel deficient in failing to call Dr. Ashby at the penalty phase,

Appellant was not prejudiced because the same information was presented via Dr. Dee.

Likewise, Appellant failed to establish ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's strategic decision not to call Dr. Kremper or a similar expert to testify during the penalty phase. Trial counsel consulted with Dr. Kremper during his pre-trial preparation, but made the decision not to call the witness because he was afraid of opening the door to damaging evidence contained in Dr. Kremper's report. Appellant's current hindsight argument that another expert would have been more effective than Dr. Dee is without merit.

Lastly, trial counsel made a strategic decision to request the catch-all jury instruction at the penalty phase rather than specific jury instructions on the two statutory mitigating factors. Counsel explained that he was concerned that the prosecutor would negate the statutory mitigators because of the modifying adjectives of "extreme" and "substantial," and accordingly, trial counsel was worried that the jury would not appropriately weigh the mitigation evidence. Appellant's assertion, the Contrary to record clearly establishes that trial counsel's strategic decision was not based on ignorance of the law.

## ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED APPELLANT'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL CLAIM BASED ON COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO MOVE FOR A DETERMINATION OF COMPETENCY PRIOR TO TRIAL AND PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SUA SPONTE ORDER A COMPETENCY HEARING.

In his first claim, Appellant alleges that he was denied the effective assistance of trial counsel because trial counsel failed to file a motion to determine his competency prior to trial. Appellant further alleges that the trial court violated his constitutional rights for allowing him to be tried and convicted while allegedly mentally incompetent. Specifically, collateral counsel asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a competency determination after: (1) Nelson attempted suicide in June, 1998, and was subsequently placed on suicide watch; (2) after trial counsel's retained mental expert found Nelson "marginally competent;" and (3) after defense counsel requested a jury instruction indicating that Nelson was on psychotropic medication. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the State submits that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel.

In order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Strickland v.

<u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), a defendant must establish two general components.

First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined.

Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986); see also Davis v. State, 928 So. 2d 1089, 1104-05 (Fla. Furthermore, as the Strickland Court noted, there is a strong presumption that trial counsel's performance was not ineffective. Id. at 690. A fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Id. at 689. The defendant carries the burden to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id. (quoting Michel v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91 (1955)).

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim, this Court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues, but must review the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo. Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001). In this case,

the State submits that the trial court properly found that Appellant failed to carry his burden of establishing that trial counsel's representation was deficient. The testimony from the evidentiary hearing clearly establishes that trial counsel was not deficient for failing to move for a competency hearing.

Lead trial counsel, Robert Trogolo, testified that he had extensive experience in dealing with competency issues while working with the Public Defender's Office. 11 Trogolo testified that during his representation of Appellant, he and the other members of the defense team met with Appellant regularly, usually weekly or bi-weekly. While incarcerated, Appellant gave factual statements to the defense team regarding the crime that were consistent with the statements he gave to law enforcement officers during his taped confession. As the trial court noted, trial counsel Trogolo testified that Appellant knew "factually what was going on as far as the case against him and the proceedings that were going on. . . . [and] understood the charges against him, the roles of the judges and the lawyers." (PCR V9:1442).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As the trial court found, lead counsel Trogolo testified that "[h]e was admitted to practice in 1975, and he first started working with competency issues when he started with the Public Defender's Office in the Sixth Judicial Circuit in 1980 or 1981. He said counting all cases not just murder cases he had probably filed for a determination of competency in dozens of cases prior to handling Mr. Nelson's case." (PCR V9:1441).

Trial counsel Trogolo provided his mental health expert, Dr. Dee, with a tremendous amount of documentation regarding Appellant, and Dr. Dee opined that the Appellant was "marginally competent." Trogolo testified that he considered Appellant's suicide attempt, his taking of psychotropic medication in jail, and Dr. Dee's opinion finding Appellant competent when making his decision not to file a motion for competency determination. Although Appellant was often quiet when they met, counsel felt that Appellant never reached the point where he needed to make a motion for competency determination because trial counsel, like Dr. Dee, found Appellant to be competent.

As the record and the testimony from the evidentiary hearing establishes, Appellant has failed to carry his burden of establishing deficient performance by trial counsel. The fact that Appellant was taking psychotropic medication and had attempted suicide while in jail did not per se render him incompetent. See Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975) (noting that a suicide attempt is an indication of possible mental instability, but such an attempt does not legally create a reasonable doubt about the defendant's competence to stand trial); Fallada v. Dugger, 819 F.2d 1564, 1569 (11th Cir. 1987); McCune v. Estelle, 534 F.2d 611, 612 (5th Cir. 1976). Experienced trial counsel acted within the broad range of

reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards when he made a determination that his client was competent to proceed to trial based on all of the surrounding circumstances. In making this determination, trial counsel had the benefit of the opinion of his experienced mental health expert, Dr. Henry Dee, that Appellant was competent, the opinion and testimony of jail psychiatrist, Dr. Mark Ashby, at the pretrial hearing that Appellant was under medication but was competent (DAR V15:1369-1450), and his own dealings with his client. Thus, the State submits that a review of the record supports the trial court's ruling denying the instant claim:

The Court finds that that the defense has not shown that trial counsels' representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Lead trial counsel testified that Mr. Nelson did communicate with the defense team, understood the proceedings, and the roles of the players. The defense mental health expert, Dr. Dee advised the Nelson was marginally competent to that Mr. proceed. The Defendant has not supported his claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to move determination of competency to proceed.

(PCR V9:1443).

In addition to arguing that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion for competency determination, collateral counsel further argues that the trial court had an obligation to sua sponte order a competency hearing. See Bishop v. United States, 350 U.S. 961 (1956) (holding that the trial court must conduct a hearing on the issue of a defendant's

competency to stand trial when there are reasonable grounds to suggest incompetency); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966) (placing burden on trial court, on its own motion, to make inquiry into defendant's competency when there is a "bona fide doubt" as to his competency). The State submits that the instant sub-claim is procedurally barred from review in a postconviction proceeding because the claim relies exclusively on matters contained in the direct appeal record. See James v. Singletary, 957 F.2d 1562, 1572 (11th Cir. 1992) (finding that a claim based on Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966), "can and must be raised on direct appeal").

Even if this Court were to address Appellant's procedurally barred sub-claim, the record clearly establishes that the trial court did not have any reasonable grounds to question Appellant's competency to stand trial. Collateral counsel argues that at a pretrial conference on March 11, 1999, a defense attorney filling in for Trogolo made the following comments to the trial court which put the court on notice of the necessity for a competency hearing:

MR. MACK: Judge, I'm covering this for Mr. Trogolo. There was just a couple points Mr. Trogolo asked me to advise the court of. One was that we've had our client seen by an expert advisor, and apparently he found our client to be marginally competent at this time.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MACK: However, he did say that he's recommending that a second expert advisor be involved on this, and Mr. Trogolo intends to follow through on that.

(DAR V1:52-53). Additionally, immediately prior to the opening statements in Appellant's trial, defense counsel requested a special jury instruction informing the jury that Appellant was taking psychotropic medication. During the discussion regarding this instruction, the trial court heard testimony from jail psychiatrist Dr. Mark Ashby. (DAR V15:1362-1449). Trial counsel Trogolo made numerous comments during this discussion that clearly establish that Appellant was in fact competent to proceed at the time, and that counsel was not requesting a determination of competency. (DAR V15:1363-65, 1400-01, 1404, 1446).

Contrary to Appellant's argument in his brief, the instant case is not "directly on point" with <u>Tate v. State</u>, 864 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). In <u>Tate</u>, the defendant was twelve-years-old when he brutally murdered a six-year-old child. After being convicted of this offense, Tate's counsel moved for a new trial and a hearing to determine Tate's competency. The evidence before the trial court included Tate's extremely young age, inexperience with the criminal justice system, representations from trial counsel that Tate was not assisting them and "had no idea what was going on," had a social maturity

of a six-year-old and a mental delay of about three to four years which equated to a mental age of nine or ten years old.

Id. at 48. Based on Pate and this Court's decision in Hill v.

State, 473 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), 12 the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that the trial court erred in not sua sponte ordering a pre-trial competency hearing, and in denying trial counsel's post-trial motion requesting a competency hearing.

The facts of this case are easily distinguishable from <u>Tate</u> and <u>Hill</u>. Here, nine months prior to trial, the trial court was made aware that trial counsel's retained mental health expert had found Appellant competent to proceed. Then, immediately before opening statements, defense counsel again informed the trial court that Appellant was competent to proceed and further informed the court that Appellant was taking medication so that he could maintain his competency. The trial court heard testimony from another mental health expert, jail psychiatrist Dr. Ashby, that established that Appellant was competent at that time. Appellant did not engage in any bizarre behavior at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In <u>Hill</u>, this Court found sufficient reasons to question the defendant's competency existed in the record, namely, the defendant suffered from grand mal seizures and mental retardation, had severe speech problems, was illiterate, could not relate details to the defense team, exhibited behavior at trial indicating that he did not appreciate the nature of the proceedings, and that trial counsel did not understand the distinction between competency to stand trial and competency at the time of the offense.

trial, although the trial court was aware that Appellant suffered from depression and had attempted suicide over a year ago while in jail.

Obviously, contrary to the assertions in Appellant's brief, the discussions on the record prior to trial did not require the trial court to sua sponte conduct a competency hearing. Appellant incorrectly argues that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210(b) required a competency determination. This rule stated:

If, at any material stage of a criminal proceeding, the court of its own motion, or on motion of counsel for the defendant or for the state, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to proceed, the court shall immediately enter its order setting a time for a hearing to determine the defendant's mental condition. . .

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.210(b) (1999). As the record clearly establishes, and as the trial court properly found when denying this sub-claim, "[d]efense counsel did not ask for a competency determination, and the trial court did not have any significant information before it that would indicate that a competency determination was necessary." (PCR V9:1443). Because Appellant has failed to carry his burden of establishing that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a competency determination, and has further failed to establish that there were any reasonable

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